
 

 

 

7 North Dixie Highway 

Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460 

561.586.1600 

  
AGENDA 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 
REGULAR CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 
TUESDAY, AUGUST 20, 2024 - 6:00 PM 

ROLL CALL: 

INVOCATION OR MOMENT OF SILENCE: led by Commissioner Mimi May 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: led by Mayor Betty Resch 

AGENDA - Additions / Deletions / Reordering: 

PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items) 

A. Healthier Lake Worth Beach Neighborhood Health Impact Work in Partnership with Code 
Compliance Division Presentation by Carmelle Marcelin-Chapman, Project Manager of 
Healthier Lake Worth Beach 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND CONSENT AGENDA: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

A. July 29, 2024 - Budget Work Session #2 

B. August 5, 2024 - Budget Work Session #3 

C. August 6, 2024 - regular meeting 

CONSENT AGENDA: (public comment allowed during Public Participation of Non-Agendaed 
items) 

A. Proclamation declaring August 26, 2024, as Women's Equity Day 

B. Electric Utility Easement between Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC and the City of Lake 
Worth Beach 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

A. Ordinance 2024-08 – Second Reading – amending Chapter 23 “Land Development 
Regulations,” Article 4 “Development Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Lease Agreement with Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. 

NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Interlocal Agreement with the Lake Worth Beach CRA for Financial Support of a Project to be 
Known as Madison Terrace Phase One 

B. General Contractors Agreements with Louminel General Contractor, LLC, Mya 
Construservice, LLC and Sustainable Design and Construction Services, Inc. for 
miscellaneous maintenance repairs 



C. Ordinance No. 2024-12 - First Reading - amending the Oath of Candidate form 

COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS AND COMMENTS: 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT: 

CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT: 

UPCOMING MEETINGS AND WORK SESSIONS: 

August 23 - pre-agenda workshop (9 am) 
August 27 - utility meeting 
September 3 - regular meeting 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 
The City Commission has adopted Rules of Decorum for Citizen Participation (See Resolution No. 13-
2023). The Rules of Decorum are posted within the City Hall Chambers, City Hall Conference Room, posted 
online at:  https://lakeworthbeachfl.gov/government/virtual-meetings/, and available through the City Clerk’s 
office. Compliance with the Rules of Decorum is expected and appreciated. 

 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with respect to any 
matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, 
for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which 
record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. (F.S. 286.0105) 



 

MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

CITY COMMISSION BUDGET WORK SESSION #2 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 

MONDAY, JULY 29, 2024 - 5:00 PM 

 

 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Resch on the above date at 5:06 PM in the City Commission 

Chamber located at City Hall, 7 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, Florida. 

 

ROLL CALL: (0:42) Present were Mayor Betty Resch; Vice Mayor Sarah Malega and Commissioners 

Christopher McVoy, Mimi May and Reinaldo Diaz.  Also present were Interim City Manager Jamie 

Brown and City Clerk Melissa Ann Coyne. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: (0:58) led by Commissioner Reinaldo Diaz. 

 

UPDATES / FUTURE ACTION / DIRECTION: (2:01)  

 

A. Update on the City’s FY 2025 Proposed Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Plan (2:07) 

 

I. Budget Overview – Appropriation Summary (3:31) 

 

II. Significant changes from Budget Work Session #1 (9:07) 

 

III. Supplemental Schedule (11:45) 

 

Action: Consensus to include the supplemental requests in the next budget book. 

 

IV. Fee Schedule changes from FY 2024 to FY 2025 (1:16:32) 

 

Action: Consensus to double the resident rate of $950 for cemetery plots to $1900 for non-residents. 

  

The meeting recessed at 6:37 PM and reconvened at 6:52 PM. 

 

V.  Stantec Modeling & Questions for Stantec (2:10:15) 

Action: Consensus to increase the stormwater fund 2.5% this year and 2.5% next year rather than 5% this year 

and 0% next year. 

  

VI. Capital Improvement Plan (3:50:25) 

 

Action: Consensus to move forward with fencing and a gate for Pinecrest Cemetery.  

 

Action: Consensus to look at funding for the South Bryant Park Pavilion renovations and for Pinecrest 

Cemetery. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: (4:56:21) 

 



Pg. 2, Budget Work Session 2, July 29, 2024 

The meeting adjourned at 10:06 PM. 

 

 

____________________________ 

Betty Resch, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Melissa Ann Coyne, City Clerk 

 

Minutes Approved: August 20, 2024  

 

Item time stamps correspond to the recording of the meeting on YouTube. 



 

MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

CITY COMMISSION BUDGET WORK SESSION #3 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 

MONDAY, AUGUST 5, 2024 - 4:30 PM 

 

 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Resch on the above date at 4:37 PM in the City Commission 

Chamber located at City Hall, 7 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, Florida. 

 

ROLL CALL: (0:35) Present were Mayor Betty Resch; Vice Mayor Sarah Malega and Commissioners 

Christopher McVoy, Mimi May and Reinaldo Diaz.  Also present were Interim City Manager Jamie 

Brown and Deputy City Clerk Shayla Ellis. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: (0:51) led by Vice Mayor Sarah Malega. 

 

UPDATES / FUTURE ACTION / DIRECTION: (2:01)  

 

A. Discussion continuation on the City’s FY 2025 Capital Improvement Plan (1:10)  

 

Action: Consensus to utilize general fund balance funds to finance the Lake Worth Playhouse Marquee for 

$25,000. (10:35) 

 

Action: Consensus to establish a Library Endowment and schedule a future discussion regarding the 

required funding. (17:38) 

 

Action: Consensus on the funding of an additional customer service supervisor position. (21:27) 

 

Action: Consensus to move forward with the destruction of the water tower at the north pump booster 

station utilizing the funding from the water utility operating budget or allowing the destruction 

from an authorized third-party. (34:33) 

 

Action: Majority agreement to utilize the remaining restricted ARPA funds to fund the Dual Zone 

Monitoring Well, Monitoring Well 9 Replacement, and the improvements for Lift Stations 5, 6, 13, 

15, 18, 19 & 25. (1:10:23) 

 

ADJOURNMENT: (1:18:38) 

 

The meeting adjourned at 5:56 PM. 

 

____________________________ 

Betty Resch, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Melissa Ann Coyne, City Clerk 

 

Minutes Approved: August 20, 2024  

 

Item time stamps correspond to the recording of the meeting on YouTube. 

 



 

 

MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

REGULAR CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 6, 2024 – 6:00 PM 

 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Resch on the above date at 6:03 PM in the City Commission 

Chamber located at City Hall, 7 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, Florida. 

 

ROLL CALL: (0:33) Present were Mayor Betty Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners 

Christopher McVoy, Mimi May and Reinaldo Diaz. Also present were Interim City Manager Jamie 

Brown, City Attorney Elizabeth Lenihan and City Clerk Melissa Ann Coyne.  

 

INVOCATION OR MOMENT OF SILENCE: (0:57) was led by Mayor Betty Resch. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: (2:05) was led by Vice Mayor Sarah Malega. 

 

ADDITIONS/DELETIONS/REORDERING: (2:27) 

The Electric and Water Utility Updates, Presentations A and B, were deleted from the agenda.  

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to move Commission 

Liaison Reports and Comments, City Manager Report, City Attorney Report and Public Participation 

of Non-Agenda to the end of the meeting. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioner May. NAYS: 

Commissioners McVoy and Diaz. 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to delete and table New 

Business K, Resolution declaring support for a permanent ceasefire in Gaza brought forward by 

Commissioner McVoy. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioner May. NAYS: 

Commissioners McVoy and Diaz. 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve the agenda as 

amended. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioner May. NAYS: 

Commissioners McVoy and Diaz. 

 

PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items)  

A. (deleted) Electric Utility Update by Ed Liberty, Director of Electric Utilities 

 

B. (deleted) Water Utility Update by Vaughn Hayduk, Assistant Director of Water Utilities 

 

(moved to end of agenda) COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS AND COMMENTS:  

 

(moved to end of agenda) CITY MANAGER'S REPORT:  

 

(moved to end of agenda) CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT:  

 

(moved to end of agenda) PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND 

CONSENT AGENDA:   



Pg. 2, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: (5:01) 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to approve the following 

minutes: 

A.  June 25, 2024 - utility meeting 

B. July 12, 2024 - pre-agenda work session 

C. July 16, 2024 - regular meeting 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

CONSENT AGENDA: (public comment allowed during Public Participation of Non-Agendaed items) 

(5:08) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Commissioner Diaz to approve the Consent 

Agenda. 

 

A.  Standard Insurance Policies for FY 2024/25 Employee Health and Welfare Benefits 

B. Resolution No. 27-2024 – authorizing an amendment to the City of Lake Worth Beach (FPDP) 

401(a) Plan concerning employee contributions 

C. Change Order #1 to Agreement with Close Construction Services, LLC for South Palm Park Sea 

Level Rise Mitigation Stormwater Pump Station Project 

D. Amended and Restated Transmission Operator Alliance Agreement 

E. Seeking approval for the preparation and submittal of an application for a grant under the 

Department of Transportation (DOT) / Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Charging and 

Fueling Infrastructure Discretionary Grant Program 

F. Electric Utility Easement between The School District of Palm Beach County and the City of Lake 

Worth Beach 

G. Payroll Audit Report 

H. Annual Audit Plan 

I. Additional funds approval for agreement for Legal Services with Akerman, LLP for services 

regarding employee classification related to the City’s Pension Ordinance 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: (5:20) 

 

A. Ordinance No. 2024-09 – Second Reading - changing the residency requirement for the City 

Manager  

 

City Attorney Lenihan read the ordinance by title only. 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-09 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, 

AMENDING SECTION 2-3 OF CHAPTER 2 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 

CHANGING THE RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT FOR CITY MANAGER; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING THAT CONFLICTING ORDINANCES ARE 

REPEALED; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to approve Ordinance 2024-

09, changing the residency requirement for the City Manager. 

 



Pg. 3, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: (6:05) 

 

A. Authorization to promptly sell 501 Lake Avenue to the Lake Worth Beach Community 

Redevelopment Agency prior to finalization of a Redevelopment Agreement (6:06) 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to approve the authorization 

to promptly sell 501 Lake Avenue to the Lake Worth Beach Community Redevelopment Agency prior 

to finalization of a Redevelopment Agreement. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

B. Thirteenth Addendum to the Law Enforcement Service Agreement (LESA) (16:42) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve the Thirteenth 

Addendum to the Law Enforcement Service Agreement (LESA). 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

C. Resolution No. 25-2024 – amending the City Commission Rules of Procedure (32:14) 

 

City Attorney Lenihan did not read the resolution. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-2024 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, 

AMENDING THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY 

COMMISSION; REPEALING ALL RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner McVoy and seconded by Commissioner Diaz to receive and file the 

resolution. Motion failed. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Commissioners McVoy and Diaz. NAYS: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor 

Malega and Commissioner May. 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve Resolution No. 

25-2024, amending the City Commission Rules of Procedure. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

Action: Amended Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve 

Resolution No. 25-2024, amending the City Commission Rules of Procedure, with the changes 

previously agreed to and changing rule 6 #3 to move the line about presentations to another section 

and having the City Clerk read online comments for Public Hearings, Unfinished Business and New 

Business. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioner May. NAYS: 

Commissioners McVoy and Diaz. 

 



Pg. 4, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega to call the question. Motion withdrawn and then reinstated. 

 

D. Discussion regarding Commission compensation (1:27:28) 

 

Action: Consensus to bring an ordinance forward with a bi-annual 3% COLA for the commission beginning in 

FY 2028. 

 

The meeting recessed at 7:48 PM and reconvened at 8:06 PM. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: (2:04:16) 

 

A. Resolution No. 28-2024 Fiscal Year 2024 – 2025 Community Development Block Grant 

Agreement for improvements to the Youth Empowerment Learning Center located at 1701 

Wingfield Street (2:04:19) 

 

City Attorney Lenihan did not read the resolution. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 28-2024 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, 

APPROVING THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT BETWEEN PALM BEACH 

COUNTY AND THE CITY IN THE AMOUNT OF $301,586 IN FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FUNDS FOR THE YOUTH 

EMPOWERMENT LEARNING CENTER IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT; AUTHORIZING THE 

MAYOR, OR HER DESIGNEE, TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT AND ALL RELATED 

DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner Diaz to approve Resolution No. 

28-2024, Fiscal Year 2024 – 2025 Community Development Block Grant Agreement for 

improvements to the Youth Empowerment Learning Center located at 1701 Wingfield Street. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

B. Ordinance No. 2024-08 – First Reading - amending Chapter 23 “Land Development Regulations,” 

Article 4 “Development Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking (2:08:10) 

 

City Attorney Lenihan read the ordinance by title only. 

 

ORDINANCE 2024-08 - AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, 

FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 “LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS,” 

ARTICLE 4 “DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS,” SECTION 23.4-10 “OFF-STREET 

PARKING,” AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, CODIFICATION AND 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Commissioner McVoy to approve Ordinance 

No. 2024-08 on first reading and set the second reading and public hearing for August 20, 2024. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

C. Agreement with Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. to provide Underground Utility Parts to Water Utility 

Department (2:20:14) 

 

 



Pg. 5, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner McVoy to approve the 

Agreement with Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. to provide Underground Utility Parts to Water Utility 

Department. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

D. Resolution No. 29-2024 – 2020 -- Non-Ad Consolidated Utility Revenue Bond Reauthorization 

(2:22:01) 

 

City Attorney Lenihan did not read the resolution. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 29-2024, A GENERAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE CITY 

OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, 

MAKING A BUDGET AMENDMENT TO REALLOCATE 2020 NON-AD VALOREM 

REVENUE BOND FUNDING AND CONSOLIDATED UTILITY REVENUE BOND 

FUNDING AMONG BOND FUNDED PROJECTS 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Diaz and seconded by Commissioner McVoy to approve Resolution 

No. 29-2024 – 2020 -- Non-Ad Consolidated Utility Revenue Bond Reauthorization. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

E. Agreement for Call Center Support Services with Cerida Investment Corp. dba AnswerNet 

(2:23:56) 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to approve the Agreement 

for Call Center Support Services with Cerida Investment Corp. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

F. Approval of Goods and Services Agreement with MVA Power, Inc. to purchase 500MCM insulated 

conductors for the Intracoastal Waterway Crossing project (2:37:57) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Diaz and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve the Agreement 

with MVA Power, Inc. to purchase 500MCM insulated conductors for the Intracoastal Waterway 

Crossing project. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

G. Agreement with G & W Electric Company to purchase a 3-Phase Solid Dielectric Multiway Switch 

and Automatic Transfer Package for the Intracoastal Waterway Crossing project (2:38:31) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Diaz and seconded by Commissioner May to approve the Agreement 

with G & W Electric Company to purchase a 3-Phase Solid Dielectric Multiway Switch and Automatic 

Transfer Package for the Intracoastal Waterway Crossing project. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 



Pg. 6, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

 

H. Work Order 2 with M & M Asphalt – dba All County Paving (2:38:47) 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to approve the Work Order 

2 with M & M Asphalt – dba All County Paving. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

I. Agreement with Marquez Landscape Inc. for Citywide Lawn & Landscape Maintenance Services 

(2:39:02) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner McVoy and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve the 

Agreement with Marquez Landscape Inc. for Citywide Lawn & Landscape Maintenance Services. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

J. Purchase Order with Global Rental for procurement of a bucket truck for the Public Works 

Facilities Division (2:40:35) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner May and seconded by Vice Mayor Malega to approve the Purchase 

Order with Global Rental for procurement of a bucket truck for the Public Works Facilities Division. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

K. (deleted from the agenda and tabled) Resolution declaring support for a permanent ceasefire in 

Gaza brought forward by Commissioner McVoy  

 

COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS AND COMMENTS: (2:42:37) 

 

Action: Consensus to add a second pre-agenda workshop to be held on the 1st and 3rd Fridays of the month at 

9:00 AM. 

 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT: (3:07:40) 

 

Interim City Manager Brown provided the following report: 

 

 A mobility workshop would be held on August 19; there would be one-on-one zoom meetings with 

WGI in preparation for the workshop 

 The RFP was released for lobbyist services and would close on August 27; the commission would 

serve as the evaluation committee 

 Workshops would be held on September 16 for an overview of Community Sustainability and on 

September 23 workshop for the housing study and short term rentals 

 There would be an evaluation meeting to shortlist the respondents to the RFP for the beach property 

followed by a special meeting to evaluate them 

 WMODA was meeting weekly with staff, moving forward with design work and would present 

their final version to the CRA in September 

 

CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT: 
 

City Attorney Lenihan did not provide a report. 

 



Pg. 7, Regular Meeting, August 6, 2024 

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND CONSENT AGENDA: 

(0:00:00) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner McVoy and seconded by Commissioner May to extend the meeting 

until 11:00 PM. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

UPCOMING MEETINGS AND WORK SESSIONS: 

August 9 @ 9 AM - pre-agenda work session 

August 19 @ 6 PM - work session 

August 20 @ 6 PM - regular meeting 

 

ADJOURNMENT: (4:54:16) 

 

Action: Motion made Vice Mayor Malega and seconded by Commissioner May to adjourn the meeting at 10:11 

PM. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Resch, Vice Mayor Malega and Commissioners McVoy, May and 

Diaz. NAYS: None. 

 

 

 

_________________________ 

Betty Resch, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Melissa Ann Coyne, MMC, City Clerk 

 

Minutes approved August 20, 2024 

 

Item time stamps correspond to the recording on YouTube. 

 

 

 



  

 

 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 
 

PROCLAMATION 

 

WHEREAS,  In 1848, five trailblazing women organized the Seneca Falls Convention and created the 

Declaration of Sentiments, a platform that called on women to fight for their Constitutionally 

guaranteed right to equality as U.S. citizens; and  

 

WHEREAS,  At the 1851 Women’s Rights Convention, Sojourner Truth delivered one of the most famous 

women’s rights speeches, “Ain’t I a Woman?” calling for Black women to be included in 

women’s suffrage; and in 1865, Truth worked at the Freedmen’s Village in Arlington 

Heights; and  

 

WHEREAS,  In 1920, Gertrude Crocker, a noted suffragist and treasurer for the National Woman’s Party 

and one of the 12 women who participated in the first ever picket protest outside the White 

House, moved to Arlington and became active in civic affairs; and  

 

WHEREAS,  The fight for women’s suffrage lasted more than 72 years, with women from all walks of life 

demanding the right to voice their opinions at the polls; yet the ratification of the 19th 

Amendment in 1920 ensured that primarily white women could vote; it would be another 45 

years before women of color had the legal protections to vote through the Voting Rights Act 

of 1965; and  

 

WHEREAS,  In 2020, the centennial of the ratification of the 19th amendment, women of all backgrounds 

were not only voting, but they were also running for and winning elected office in 

unprecedented numbers, including the highest office in the country.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Betty Resch, Mayor of the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida, 

by virtue of the authority vested in me and on behalf of the City Commission, 

do hereby proclaim: 

 

AUGUST 26, 2024 

as 

WOMEN’S EQUALITY DAY 

 

in the City of Lake Worth Beach and encourage residents to follow in the footsteps of these great suffragists, 

female leaders, and civil rights leaders, and to continue to be sentinels for democracy and justice. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of Lake Worth 

Beach, Florida, to be affixed this 20th day of August, 2024. 

 

 

______________________ 

Betty Resch, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Melissa Ann Coyne, MMC, City Clerk  



STAFF REPORT 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

AGENDA DATE: August 20, 2024 DEPARTMENT: Electric Utility 

TITLE: 

Electric Utility Easement between Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC and the City of Lake Worth Beach 

 
SUMMARY: 

Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC will dedicate an Electric Utility Easement to the City of Lake Worth 
Beach in accordance with the conditions of approval by Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC.  

 
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC has recently granted the City of Lake Worth Beach a signed 
Easement Agreement. This ten (10) foot wide easement is located south and contiguous to the Lake 
Worth Drainage District (LWDD) Right-of-Way from Davis Road at the west extent, and then east to 
Emerald Vista. The City of Lake Worth Utilities facilities are to be placed underground in the provided 
easement. The project consists of electric distribution primary conductors routed within underground 
conduits originating from the Canal substation to utility transmission poles.  

Morguard Emerald Apartments, LLC was paid $6,000.00 for legal fees their lender, CBRE, required. 
$10.00 is for Other Good and Valuable Consideration in the Easement Agreement. 

 
MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Electric Utility Easement Agreement between Morguard Emerald 
Apartments, LLC and the City of Lake Worth Beach at a cost not to exceed $6,010.00. 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 
Electric Utility Easement Agreement 



FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 
 

Fiscal Years 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 
Inflows/Revenues 
 Appropriated (Budgeted) 0 0 0 0 0 
 Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
 Grants 0 0 0 0 0 
 In Kind 0 0 0 0 0 
 

Outflows/Expenditures  
 Appropriated (Budgeted) 0 0 0 0 0 
 Operating  0 0 0 0 0 
 Capital $6,010 0 0 0 0 
 

Net Fiscal Impact 
(If not budgeted) 0 0 0 0 0 
 

No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

   

   

Contract Award - Existing Appropriation (Budgeted) 

  Expenditure 

Department  Electric  

Division Transmission & Distribution  

GL Description Improve Other Than Build / Infrastructure  

GL Account Number 421-6034-531-63-15  

Project Number SH2122 

Requested Funds $6,010.00 

Remaining Balance $2,738.49 

Source of Revenue (i.e. Paygo. 

Current Revenue, Bond Money, 
Grants, etc.) Series 2020 Consolidated Utility Revenue Bond 

 
 

















CHECKED/QC

DRAWN/DESIGNED

CAD

DATE

JOB NO.

SHEET:

PROJECT: TASK:

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

SURVEYOR'S NOTES:LEGEND:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

1 of 2

L-13 CANAL & DAVIS RD
PREPARED BY:

Eric Matthews
Digitally signed by Eric 
Matthews 
Date: 2024.04.08 15:11:51 -04'00'



0 20 40 80

SCALE: 1" = 40'

CHECKED/QC

DRAWN/DESIGNED

CAD

DATE

JOB NO.

SHEET:
PREPARED BY:

2 of 2

PROJECT: TASK:

10' UTILITY EASEMENTL-13 CANAL & DAVIS RD



 
 
 
 
 

CBRE MULTIFAMILY CAPITAL, INC. | 1 

C B RE  MU L T I F A MI L Y  C A P I T A L ,  I N C .   

929 Gessner 
Suite 1700 
Houston, TX 77024 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND 
CONDITIONAL APPROVAL  

July 30, 2024 
 
 
Morguard Emerald Apartments LLC  
Attn: Gary Stern  
6305 Airline Drive 
Metairie, Louisiana 70003 
 
 R E :  Servicer Loan Number:  01-0429161 
 Fannie Mae Loan No.:  17170000794 
 Borrower Name:    Morguard Emerald Apartments LLC, a Florida limited liability company 
 Property Name:   Emerald Lake Apartments 
 Subject:    Routine Utility Easement 
 
Dear Borrower: 
 
CBRE Multifamily Capital, Inc. (“Servicer”) is pleased to provide this letter on behalf of Fannie Mae (“Lender”) to 
evidence the acknowledgment and conditional approval of the Utility Easement (the “Easement”) between 
Morguard Emerald Apartments LLC (“Grantor”) and City of Lakeworth Beach (“Grantee”). The Easement is permitted 
subject to the satisfaction set forth in this Acknowledgment and Conditional Approval Letter (“Acknowledgment”) 
and the Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 1, 2020 (“Loan Agreement”), executed by 
Borrower in connection with the Loan described above. Capitalized terms used in this letter will have the meanings 
given to them in the Loan Agreement. 

A. Expiration of Approval. This approval will expire at 5:00 p.m. Central Standard Time on August 14, 2024 
(“Expiration Date”), at which time, unless Borrower has accepted this Approval in the manner set forth in 
this letter, this Approval will become null and void. Upon acceptance, Borrower will have 120 days to 
provide the required documents as outlined in ‘Section B’ below.                                        
 

B. Terms and Conditions. The Easement must be completed in accordance with the requirements set forth by 
the Lender below: 

a. Since a date-down endorsement is not available in the Property jurisdiction of Florida.  Borrower 
is require to deliver a current title search confirming the continued priority of Lender’s Lien other 
than the subordination of the Security Instrument to the Easement.  
 

b. Borrower to send Lender a fully executed copy of the Utility Easement as shown in Exhibit A. 

 

C. Fees.  In connection with the Easement, the Borrower must remit to Servicer the following fees: 
 
Review Fee and Legal Fees:  The Borrower must remit Lender’s counsel legal fees (together, 
“Counsel Fees”) to Lender for the fees, costs and expenses of Lender counsel.  Borrower acknowledges 
and agrees that Counsel Fees are earned as of the date that services are provided.  Any additional 



CBRE MULTIFAMILY CAPITAL, INC. | 2 

Counsel Fees accrued following the issuance of this Acknowledgment related to this transaction, if any, 
will be payable by Borrower, based upon Servicer and Lender counsel’s hourly billing rate 

$3,000 CBRE Review Fee
$3,000 CMC Legal Review Fee

Total Fees: $6,000 (satisfied)
 

D. Material Differences.  Servicer will not be obligated to allow the Easement if any feature of the transaction 
differs materially from that which was disclosed to Servicer. 

E. Modifications.  The provisions of this Acknowledgement may not be waived or modified or in any way 
changed by implication or subsequent conduct, correspondence or otherwise, unless such waiver, 
modification or change is expressly stated as such and is specifically agreed to in writing by Lender and 
Servicer. 

F. Merger.  No statements, agreements or representations, oral or written, which may have been made to 
Borrower or to any employee or agent of Borrower, by any employee, representative or agent acting on 
Servicer’s behalf, with respect to the Easement will be of any force or effect except to the extent stated in 
this Acknowledgement, and all prior agreements and representations made with respect to the Easement 
are merged in this Acknowledgement. 

G. Survival.  The provisions and conditions of this Acknowledgement will survive delivery of the Easement. 

H. Mortgage.  All other terms of the Mortgage shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
If you should have any questions about this Acknowledgment, please contact samuel.gaas@cbre.com. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
________________________ 
Nikki Broussard 
Associate Vice President 
 
  



CBRE MULTIFAMILY CAPITAL, INC. | 3

To evidence its acceptance of the terms of this Acknowledgement, the Borrower must execute this 
Acknowledgement as set forth below and cause such executed copy of this Acknowledgement to be received by 
Servicer.

Agreed and Accepted this ______day of ___________, 2024.

BORROWER:

MORGUARD EMERALD APARTMENTS LLC, a
Florida limited liability company

By: ___________________________________

Name: ___________________________________

Title: ___________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ ________________

___



STAFF REPORT 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

AGENDA DATE: August 20, 2024 DEPARTMENT:  Community Sustainability 

TITLE: 

Ordinance 2024-08 – Second Reading – amending Chapter 23 “Land Development Regulations,” Article 
4 “Development Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking. 

 
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

The proposed change would remove the specific fee-in-lieu reference in the LDRs and defer to the City’s 
formal annual Schedule of Fees and Charges. This would allow staff to adjust the in-lieu fee to reflect 
current development values without requiring amendments to the LDRs.  

Staff will be proposing the fee-in-lieu as part of the Fiscal Year 2025 fee schedule to be $25,000. The 
change would be commensurate with the current base estimated cost of creating a garage parking space.  
Staff recommends that the City Commission authorizes implementation of the $25,000 fee in the interim 
period between the adoption of this ordinance and the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2025 fee schedule 
 

The Planning & Zoning Board (PZB) unanimously voted to recommend approval of the proposed text 
amendment at their June 5, 2024 meeting.  

 

The Historic Resources Preservation Board (HRPB) unanimously voted to recommend approval of 
the proposed text amendment at their June 12, 2024 meeting. 

 

The City Commission unanimously approved the ordinance on first reading as recommended by the 
Planning & Zoning Board/  Historic Resources Preservation Board at the August 6, 2024 meeting. 

 
MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Ordinance 2024-08 amending Chapter 23 “Land Development 
Regulations,” Article 4 “Development Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking and the 
implementation of $25,000 fee-in-lieu in the interim period between the adoption of Ordinance 2024-08 
and the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2025 fee schedule. 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

Ordinance 2024-08 
PZB/HRPB Staff Report 



 1 
2024-08 2 

 3 
 4 
ORDINANCE 2024-08 - AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH 5 
BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 “LAND DEVELOPMENT 6 
REGULATIONS,” ARTICLE 4 “DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS,” SECTION 7 
23.4-10 “OFF-STREET PARKING,” AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, 8 
CONFLICTS, CODIFICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 9 
 10 

 11 
WHEREAS, as provided in Section 2(b), Article VIII of the Constitution of the State of 12 

Florida, and Section 166.021(1), Florida Statutes, the City of Lake Worth Beach (the “City”), 13 
enjoys all governmental, corporate, and proprietary powers necessary to conduct municipal 14 
government, perform municipal functions, and render municipal services, and may exercise any 15 
power for municipal purposes, except as expressly prohibited by law; and  16 

 17 
WHEREAS, as provided in Section 166.021(3), Florida Statutes, the governing body of 18 

each municipality in the state has the power to enact legislation concerning any subject matter 19 
upon which the state legislature may act, except when expressly prohibited by law; and  20 

 21 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to amend Chapter 23, Article 4 “Development Standards,” 22 

Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking; and 23 
 24 

WHEREAS, the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida (the “City”), is a duly constituted 25 
municipality having such power and authority conferred upon it by the Florida Constitution and 26 
Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; and 27 

 28 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Board, in its capacity as the local planning agency, 29 

considered the proposed amendments at a duly advertised public hearing; and 30 
 31 
WHEREAS, the Historic Resources Preservation Board, in its capacity as the local 32 

planning agency, considered the proposed amendments at a duly advertised public hearing; and 33 
 34 
WHEREAS, the City Commission finds and declares that the adoption of this ordinance is 35 

appropriate, and in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the City, its residents and 36 
visitors. 37 

 38 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 39 

LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 40 
 41 
Section 1: The foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are ratified and confirmed as being 42 

true and correct and are made a specific part of this ordinance as if set forth herein.  43 
 44 
Section 2: Chapter 23 “Land Development Regulations,” Article 4 “Development 45 

Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking is hereby amended as follows: 46 
 47 

Sec. 23.4-10. Off-street parking. 48 
a) General provisions. The following standards shall apply to all parking spaces required for 49 

new buildings, new uses, additions, enlargements, or changes:  50 
1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, no building shall be erected or moved into 51 

a district nor shall any building be enlarged by more than twenty-five (25) percent or 52 
increased in capacity by adding dwelling units, guest rooms, floor area or seats, unless 53 



Pg. 2, Ord. 2024-08 

 
there be provided on the building site, off-street parking facilities for the entire building 54 
as set forth in this section. A certificate of occupancy for the given structure or premises 55 
shall be prohibited until the required parking area has been improved, inspected and 56 
approved.  57 

2. Fractional measurements. When units or measurements determining the number of 58 
required off-street parking spaces result in the requirement of a fractional space, any 59 
such fraction of one-fourth (¼) or greater shall require a full space.  60 

3. Parking prohibited. Parking is prohibited on lawns or landscaping areas in all zoning 61 
districts. Parking shall be confined to designated marked parking spaces in all districts 62 
except SF-R and SF TF-14 districts. In SF-R and SF TF-14 districts, parking is limited 63 
to driveways, carports, garages or marked parking spaces.  64 

4. Parking for the disabled. Required parking shall include parking spaces for disabled 65 
persons in accordance with the requirements of F.S. § 553.501 et seq., the "Florida 66 
Americans With Disabilities Accessibility Implementation Act" ("Florida ADAIA") and the 67 
Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines, as adopted by reference in 28 68 
C.F.R., Part 36, Subparts A and D, and Title II of Pub. L. No. 101-336, which are also 69 
incorporated by reference into the Florida ADAIA.  70 

5. Uses not specifically mentioned. For any use not specifically mentioned in this section, 71 
the development review official shall identify a similar use that is specifically listed and 72 
apply the required parking standards accordingly.  73 

6. Joint use of off-street parking facilities. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 74 
prevent collective provision for, or joint use of, off-street parking facilities for two (2) or 75 
more buildings or uses by two (2) or more owners or operators, provided that the total 76 
of such spaces, when combined or used together, shall not be less than the sum of the 77 
requirements of the several individual uses computed separately in accordance with 78 
this section. Such facilities shall be permanently maintained for such joint use, and shall 79 
not be discounted in whole or in part unless other suitable facilities conforming with this 80 
section are provided.  81 

b) Location. 82 
1. Unless otherwise specified herein, parking spaces for all residential uses shall be 83 

located on the same lot with the main building to be served. Such parking space may 84 
consist of a carport, garage or parking area as defined in this section. Parking beneath 85 
a building is expressly allowed and such space shall not be included as a "story" of the 86 
building.  87 
A. Parking off of an alley.  88 

1) Parking provided off of an alley shall maintain a twenty-foot back-out, which 89 
includes the width of the alley.  90 

2) If a building is located between a ROW and a vehicular area, foundation 91 
plantings shall be provided.  92 

2. Parking spaces for all other single uses, in all districts except the Industrial Park of 93 
Commerce - I-POC, shall be provided on the same lot or in conformance with the 94 
requirements for transitional parking lots (section 23.4-13).  95 

3. Parking spaces for those properties in mixed use districts with a mix of uses are allowed 96 
to provide required parking at an off-site location anywhere within four hundred (400) 97 
feet of the proposed use. Parking spaces for those properties in industrial use districts 98 
are allowed to provide required parking at an off-site location anywhere within five 99 
hundred (500) feet of the proposed use. In each case, such parking lots shall be tied to 100 
the mixed use or industrial site by unity of title. Properties with the single use of 101 
residential must provide on-site parking.  102 

c) Access. 103 
1. All parking spaces shall have unobstructed on-site access to a paved public right-of-104 

way.  105 



Pg.3, Ord. 2024-08 
 

2. All properties using State Roads 802, 805 and 5; and 6th Avenue South, 10th Avenue 106 
North, Worthmore Drive and Lake Osborne Drive as access to their on-site parking shall 107 
provide maneuvering space to permit vehicles to enter and leave the parking area in a 108 
forward motion.  109 

3. No building permit shall be issued by the city for any on-site improvements where the 110 
building plans submitted show that the access to any on-site parking space requires the 111 
use of unimproved public right-of-way, unless and until:  112 
A. The owner enters into an agreement with the city agreeing to the paving, at said 113 

owner's expense, of the unimproved right-of-way from paved street to street, and 114 
such owner posts a cash bond with the city in an amount determined by the city 115 
engineer to be sufficient to cover the actual costs of improvements, including 116 
engineering fees, with said engineering fees refundable upon the city's acceptance 117 
of the improvements; or  118 

B. A petition, signed by a majority of the property owners abutting the unimproved 119 
public right-of-way and requesting the paving of the unimproved public right-of-way 120 
with the costs thereof to be assessed against the benefited properties, is presented 121 
to the city commission; a public hearing is held therefore; and, a contract is let for 122 
said project.  123 

C. No certificate of occupancy shall be issued in either case until said improvements 124 
are completed and accepted for perpetual maintenance by the City of Lake Worth.  125 

4. Single-family buildings, duplexes, multiple-family buildings of four (4) units or fewer and 126 
commercial businesses not exceeding one thousand (1,000) feet of gross floor area 127 
shall be exempt from the provisions of this section.  128 

d) Material. Each parking space shall be surfaced with a hard impermeable dustless material, 129 
either solid in area or in individual concrete strips or other approved materials, including but 130 
not limited to impervious materials and permeable paving materials in accordance with City 131 
of Lake Worth Beach standards. Required off-street parking for single-family and two-family 132 
dwelling units may also utilize semi-pervious surface materials including gravel and other 133 
small stone material in lieu of impermeable or permeable paving material as long as it meets 134 
the following criteria:  135 
1. Appropriate stabilization shall be established to keep small stone like materials out of 136 

the ROW, alley, and storm water systems;  137 
2. All semi-permeable driveway and parking surfaces shall be maintained to ensure 138 

permeable qualities and to prevent ponding of water.  139 
e) Drainage. Drainage systems for off-street parking facilities shall be designed and installed in 140 

a manner acceptable to the city engineer. When necessary, walls, swales, planting areas, or 141 
other mitigation measures as determined by the city engineer shall be installed to protect 142 
adjoining properties and their occupants from any nuisance. Paved parking surfaces, 143 
including but not limited to driveways and parking lots, shall have a one (1) foot setback from 144 
the side property line and rear property if not alley accessed.  145 

f) Minimum parking space requirements by use category. 146 
1. Minimum off-street parking space requirements are as follows:  147 

A. Residential uses:  148 
Single-family detached on lot less than fifty (50) feet wide - One (1) space per unit.  149 
Single-family detached on lot greater than fifty (50) feet wide - Two (2) spaces per 150 
unit.  151 
Accessory dwelling unit - One (1) space in addition to that required for the primary 152 
dwelling.  153 
Single-family attached less than three (3) units - One and one-half (1.5) spaces 154 
per unit.  155 
Single-family attached three (3) or more units - One and twenty-five hundredths 156 
(1.25) spaces per unit.  157 
Multi-family (efficiency) one and twenty-five hundredths (1.25) spaces per unit.  158 



Pg. 4, Ord. 2024-08 

 
Multi-family (one-bedroom) - One and one-half (1.5) spaces per unit.  159 
Multi-family (two-bedroom) - One and seventy-five hundredths (1.75) spaces per 160 
unit.  161 
Multi-family (> 2 bedroom) - Two (2) parking spaces.  162 

B. Nonresidential uses:  163 
Office—One (1) space per four hundred (400) gross square feet of space.  164 
Retail—One (1) space per five hundred (500) gross square feet of space.  165 
Restaurant—One (1) space per one hundred fifty (150) gross square feet of dining 166 
space (including kitchen and seating areas).  167 
Lodging—Seventy-five hundredths (0.75) spaces per unit.  168 
Commercial/Single Destination Retail/Stand Alone Retail—One (1) space per two 169 
hundred fifty (250) gross square feet of space.  170 
Personal Services/Medical Related Office—One (1) space per two hundred fifty 171 
(250) gross square feet of space.  172 
Vehicular—One (1) space per one hundred fifty (150) gross square feet of space.  173 
Industrial—One (1) space per one thousand (1,000) gross square feet of space.  174 
Institutional—One (1) space per two hundred (200) gross square feet of space.  175 
Assembly—One (1) space per seventy-five (75) gross square feet of space.  176 
Properties with multiple uses shall calculate the aggregate total of parking required 177 
for each use category prior to taking a twenty-five (25) percent deduction. Uses 178 
that generate a high parking demand of greater than six (6) spaces per one 179 
thousand (1,000) square feet*, but do not exceed the fifty (50) person threshold to 180 
qualify as assembly per the latest version of the Florida Building Code shall be 181 
required to provide fifty (50) percent more parking than other uses in the same use 182 
category.  183 
(*Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Peak Parking Generation Rate, 3rd 184 
Edition or later)  185 

2. Exceptions. Parking is not required for:  186 
A. Changes in use or occupancy or remodeling of existing buildings which do not 187 

increase floor area or number of overall existing dwelling units, located outside of 188 
the single-family residential SF-R zoning district.  189 

B. Changes in use, remodeling, of existing buildings as designated as a contributing 190 
structure in one (1) of the city's historic districts (as determined by section 23.5-4).  191 

C. A bed and breakfast use proposed in a building designated as a contributing 192 
structure in a city historic district (as determined by section 23.5-4) is excluded 193 
from these off-street parking exceptions unless the bed and breakfast is to be 194 
established in a single-family residence whereby parking shall be provided in 195 
accordance with these LDRs.  196 

3. Fee-in-lieu of parking. All uses on properties in the core area which do not provide the 197 
required number of off-street parking spaces shall pay a fee-in-lieu of parking to the city. 198 
The fee shall be held in the community benefits fund to be allocated toward projects 199 
identified and approved by the commission as part of the community benefits program.  200 
A. Location. Only properties located in the core area are eligible to utilize the fee-in-201 

lieu of parking option. The core area is more particularly described as: Those 202 
properties which are bounded on the west by "A" Street and on the east by 203 
Golfview Road, and on the north by 2nd Avenue North, and on the south by 1st 204 
Avenue South.  205 

B. Payments-in lieu. For any uses that elect to not provide any or all of the required 206 
number of off-street parking spaces described in this section, the owner or 207 
developer must make a payment to the city in the amount of fifteen thousand 208 
dollars ($15,000) per space not provided.as specified in the City’s annual Schedule 209 
of Fees and Charges for Services.  210 



Pg.5, Ord. 2024-08 
 

C. Any changes in use, remodeling, building expansion or new construction that have 211 
the net effect of increasing parking demand by more than twenty-five (25) percent 212 
as calculated by the required parking in this section, must provide parking as 213 
required by this section unless a payment-in-lieu of parking is made to the city in 214 
the amount of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000.00) per space not provided as 215 
specified in the City’s annual Schedule of Fees and Charges for Services..  216 

g) Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure. It is the purpose of the electric vehicle charging 217 
infrastructure to provide the availability of electric vehicle charging stations to residents and 218 
visitors of the city.  219 
1. All new commercial or mixed-use developments with at least twenty-five (25) parking 220 

spaces, or existing commercial or mixed-use developments with at least twenty-five (25) 221 
parking spaces that enter into either the site plan or site plan amendment process are 222 
subject to the following:  223 
A. Four (4) percent of the total minimum required off-street parking spaces shall be 224 

designated and outfitted as electric vehicle charging spaces. Each required space 225 
at a minimum shall include the following:  226 
1) A maintained and operational 240-volt "Level 2" charging station, with a cable 227 

retraction device and/or place to hang permanent cords and connectors 228 
sufficiently above the ground, and mounted at a height which places the 229 
connector a minimum of thirty-six (36) inches and a maximum of forty-eight 230 
(48) inches above the ground,  231 

2) Wheel stops or concrete filled steel bollards to protect the aforementioned 232 
charging station,  233 

3) Signage allowing only electric vehicles to park in such space and indicating 234 
that it is only for electric vehicle charging purposes,  235 

4) The ability for all visitors to the site to access and use such space.  236 
B. All spaces with electric vehicle charging infrastructure shall be located in close 237 

proximity to the building or facility entrance.  238 
2. Any development that proposes more than twenty (20) percent of its required off-street 239 

parking to be outfitted as electric vehicle charging spaces, or operates any amount of 240 
charging stations as a primary use as determined by the development review official, 241 
shall be classified as containing an "Vehicle Fueling/Charging Service Station" use as 242 
defined in section 23.1-12 and is subject to the appropriate use approval process prior 243 
to the operation of such charging stations per section 23.3-6.  244 

3. Charging stations in SFR, SF/TF-14, MH-7, MF-20, MF-30, or MF-40 zoning districts 245 
shall be for the exclusive use of the development's residents and guests that are visiting 246 
the development's residents, and shall not be made available to the general public.  247 

h) Shared parking for mixed-use zoning. It is the purpose of the shared parking subsection to 248 
provide flexible parking provisions for the city in the appropriate mixed-use zoning districts 249 
where mixed-use developments occur. Mixed-use developments typically do not experience 250 
peak parking demands at the same time so reduced parking may be provided in these 251 
instances.  252 
1. Shared parking levels for mixed-use development. When any land or building is used 253 

for two (2) or more uses, the total requirement for off-street parking shall be the sum of 254 
the requirements of the various uses computed separately, minus twenty-five (25) 255 
percent of the total required. However, in no case, shall less than eight-tenths (0.8) of 256 
a space be provided for each employee and one (1.0) space be provided for each 257 
dwelling unit.  258 

2. Credit for onsite transit facilities in TOD districts. In the event onsite transit facilities are 259 
provided within two thousand (2,000) feet of a building, the parking required for that 260 
building shall be reduced by twenty-five (25) percent.  261 



Pg. 6, Ord. 2024-08 

 
i) Change of use or occupancy. Where the use of a given structure is changed, off-street 262 

parking facilities must be provided for the new use according to the requirements set forth in 263 
this section.  264 
1. If a portion or all of a structure or property is changed in use which requires a greater 265 

number of off-street parking spaces, then additional parking shall be documented for 266 
the new use in accordance with section 23.4-10 and any parking non-conformity 267 
recorded.  268 

2. Any expansion, alteration, or improvement which increases the gross square footage or 269 
area of an existing structure by more than twenty-five (25) percent shall be 270 
accompanied by any corresponding increase in the number of parking or loading spaces 271 
necessary for the expansion to conform to the requirements of section 23.4-10.  272 

j) Minimum parking dimensions. 273 
1. The standard parking space is nine (9) feet in width and eighteen (18) feet in length in 274 

a perpendicular and/or angled configuration. Parallel parking spaces shall be nine (9) 275 
feet in width and twenty-two (22) feet in length.  276 

2. Parking lot designs:  277 
a. Parking space dimensions for other types of spaces are:  278 

i. Compact Car Spaces at eight (8) feet × sixteen (16) feet.  279 
ii. Handicapped Spaces at twelve (12) feet × eighteen (18) feet.  280 

b. Drive aisle widths shall be a minimum of twelve (12) feet for any one-way isle and 281 
twenty (20) feet for all other isles.  282 

c. For landscaping requirements in regard to parking and other vehicular use areas, 283 
see section 23.6-1(f)(3).  284 

d. For lighting requirements, see section 23.4-3.  285 
e. Up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) percent of total required spaces may be 286 

compact cars. All compact spaces must be clearly identified.  287 
f. Alternative parking lot designs which incorporate one-way aisles, two-way aisles, 288 

and diagonal parking may be used in lieu of the standard (perpendicular, two-way 289 
aisle) parking lot design.  290 

Angle of Parking  Stall Width  Stall Depth  Aisle Width  

0 degrees-parallel  9'  22'  10' one-way  
20' two-way  

±45 degrees  9'  18'  10' one-way  
20' two-way  

90 degrees  9'  18'  10' one-way  
20' two-way  

 291 
k) On-street parking. 292 

1. Applicability. The minimum number of required off-street parking spaces for a use or 293 
project may be satisfied, in part, by the use of on-street parking spaces located within 294 
the public right-of-way abutting that same lot or parcel.  295 

2. Conditions. The provision for on-street parking spaces to be used to meet the minimum 296 
number of required off-street parking spaces shall be subject to the following conditions:  297 
a. The on-street parking provision is applicable to all existing or proposed 298 

development located within all mixed use and multi-family zoning districts  299 
b. Only the on-street parking spaces located within the public right-of-way that abut 300 

the frontage of a use or project may be used to count toward meeting the minimum 301 
number of required off-street parking spaces. The on-street parking spaces must 302 
be located on the same side of the street as the subject use or project;  303 

c. The design of the on-street parking spaces must be approved by the city public 304 
services department in order to satisfy parking demand according to subsection 305 
B.1. herein; and  306 



Pg.7, Ord. 2024-08 
 

d. On-street parking spaces utilized under this provision shall not be reserved, 307 
temporarily or permanently, for any given use.  308 

e. No more than fifty (50) percent of the required off-street parking requirement may 309 
be met with on-street parking.  310 

l) Parking alternates. 311 
1. For the purposes of these land development regulations the following may be 312 

substituted for on site parking spaces.  313 
a. The provision of four (4) bicycle rack spaces shall count as one (1) parking space;  314 
b. The provision of two (2) motorcycle or scooter spaces shall count as one (1) 315 

parking space;  316 
c. The provision of one (1) transit vehicle or bus space shall count as four (4) parking 317 

spaces.  318 
2. Alternate parking spaces including compact spaces shall count toward no more than 319 

twenty-five (25) percent of the overall on site parking requirement.  320 
 321 

Section 3: Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion 322 
of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent 323 
jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision, and 324 
such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.  325 

 326 
Section 4:  Repeal of Laws in Conflict.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 327 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 328 
 329 
Section 5: Codification.  The sections of the ordinance may be made a part of the City 330 

Code of Laws and ordinances and may be re-numbered or re-lettered to accomplish such, and 331 
the word “ordinance” may be changed to “section”, “division”, or any other appropriate word. 332 

 333 
Section 6: Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective 10 days after 334 

passage. 335 
 336 

The passage of this ordinance on first reading was moved by Commission May, seconded 337 
by Commissioner McVoy, and upon being put to a vote, the vote was as follows: 338 

 339 
Mayor Betty Resch  AYE  340 
Vice Mayor Sarah Malega AYE 341 
Commissioner Christopher McVoy AYE 342 
Commissioner Mimi May AYE 343 
Commissioner Reinaldo Diaz AYE 344 
 345 
The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on first reading on the 6th day 346 

of August, 2024. 347 
 348 

 349 
The passage of this ordinance on second reading was moved by _________________, 350 

seconded by ________________, and upon being put to a vote, the vote was as follows: 351 
 352 

Mayor Betty Resch    353 
Vice Mayor Sarah Malega  354 
Commissioner Christopher McVoy  355 
Commissioner Mimi May  356 
Commissioner Reinaldo Diaz  357 
 358 



Pg. 8, Ord. 2024-08 

 
The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on the _______ day of 359 

_____________________, 2024. 360 
 361 

LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY COMMISSION 362 
 363 
 364 
By: __________________________ 365 

Betty Resch, Mayor 366 
 367 
ATTEST: 368 
 369 
 370 
_______________________________ 371 
Melissa Ann Coyne, MMC, City Clerk 372 
 373 



 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 
Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  
 

DATE:  May 29, 2024  
 
TO:  Members of the Planning & Zoning and Historic Resources Preservation Boards 
 
FROM:  William Waters, Director of Community Sustainability 
 
MEETING:  June 5 & June 12, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance 2024-08: Consideration of an ordinance amending Chapter 23 “Land Development 

Regulations,” Article 4 “Development Standards,” Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking. 
 
 
PROPOSAL / BACKGROUND/ ANALYSIS: 
The proposed change would remove the specific fee-in-lieu reference in the LDRs and defer to the city’s fee 
schedule. This would allow staff to adjust the in-lieu fee to reflect current development values without requiring 
amendments to the LDRs.  
 
The proposed ordinance would amend Chapter 23 of the City’s Code of Ordinances: 

• Article 4, Section 23.4-10 – Off-Street Parking 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the Planning and Zoning Board and Historic Resources Preservation Board recommend that 
the City Commission adopt Ordinance 2024-08. 
 
POTENTIAL MOTION: 
I move to RECOMMEND/NOT RECOMMEND TO THE CITY COMMISSION TO ADOPT the proposed LDR text 
amendments included in Ordinance 2024-08. 
 
Attachments 

A. Draft Ordinance 2024-08 



STAFF REPORT 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

AGENDA DATE: August 20, 2024 DEPARTMENT: Community Sustainability 

TITLE: 

Interlocal Agreement with the Lake Worth Beach CRA for Financial Support of a Project to be Known as 
Madison Terrace Phase One 

 
SUMMARY: 

The Lake Worth Beach CRA is requesting support from the City for a low income housing tax credit 
application by New South Residential to develop a residential housing project to be known as Madison 
Terrace Phase One. 

 
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

The Lake Worth Beach CRA has been requested to financially support a proposed residential housing 
project by New South Residential to be known as Madison Terrace Phase One. Support for and an 
Interlocal Agreement between the City and the CRA for Phase Two of this project were approved by the 
City Commission on July 16, 2024. The project will be developed on South Dixie Highway just south of 
8th Avenue South.  The CRA has agreed to commit $640,000 toward the project’s application for Low 
Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC). In order for the funding to meet Federal application requirements, 
the CRA funding would need to pass through the City and then to the Developer. 

The request here is to support the CRA’s commitment of $640,000 for the LIHTC application and 
authorization for the Mayor and City Manager to sign the necessary interlocal agreement as well as other 
required documents and agree to the pass through of the CRA funding to the developer. 

 
MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove support of an Interlocal Agreement between the City and CRA and other 
documents for the proposed project to be known as Madison Terrace Phase One. 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis – N/A (Pass Through) 
Interlocal Agreement 
Madison Terrace Summary 
Madison Terrace Renderings 



INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN
THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH AND THE

LAKE WORTH BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
FOR FUNDING OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTION

MADISON TERRACE PROJECT - PHASE I

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FOR FUNDING OF LOCAL
GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTION FOR THE MADISON TERRACE PROJECT
("AGREEMENT") is made this _ day of_, 2024, by and between the CITY OF
LAKE WORTH BEACH, a Florida municipal corporation, (hereinafter referred to as "CITY"),

and the LAKE WORTH BEACH COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, a public
body corporate and politic, duly created and operated pursuant to Chapter 163, Florida Statutes
(hereinafter referred to as the "LWBCRA").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the CITY is a municipal corporation organized and existing under the

constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, provides for the creation of community

redevelopment agencies as separate but dependent governments of the municipalities that create

community redevelopment agencies; and

WHEREAS, the LWBCRA is a Community Redevelopment Agency established by the
CITY, pursuant to Part III, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, to provide for redevelopment of blighted

areas within the LWBCRA Community Redevelopment Area; and

WHEREAS, the developer of the Madison Terrace Project, Phase I (the "Project"), which

is located at 821 S. Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, Florida, within the LWBCRA Community
Redevelopment Area, is required to have a local government contribution for the Project to be
eligible for low income housing tax credits (the "Contribution"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to this Agreement, the City and the LWBCRA are coordinating to
provide funding pursuant to the Local Government Verification of Contribution - Loan Form
which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A." as the Project is located within the LWBCRA's

Community Redevelopment Area; and

WHEREAS, the Florida Housing Finance Corporation requires that the local government

contribution be certified by the county or municipality to be eligible for low income housing tax

credits; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement and the funding provided by the CITY and the LWBCRA
complies with the provisions of Part III, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, is consistent with the

Community Redevelopment Plan, and serves both a municipal and public purpose.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises herein

contained, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. The recitations set forth above are hereby incorporated herein by reference.

1



2. Payment of Funds by LWBCRA. The LWBCRA agrees to provide to the CITY
funds, which represent the Contribution, in a total amount not to exceed Six Hundred Forty
Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($640,000.00) for the Project, in a manner consistent with the Local
Government Verification of Contribution - Loan Form which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

Upon request for funds from the developer, each party agrees to ensure the other party receives the
notice and that the parties will proceed to process the payment to the developer. Once the CITY

receives the Funds from the LWBCRA, the CITY shall provide the Funds to the developer of the
Project within thirty (30) days, and provide the LWBCRA with proof of payment of the
Contribution.

3. Ratification. The CITY hereby ratifies the signature of the IVtayor on the Local
Government Verification of Contribution - Loan Form attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

4. Continued Cooperation. This Agreement assumes the close coordination and
cooperation between the LWBCRA and the CITY particularly regarding certain aspects of the

consideration and approval of the Project.

5. Term and Termination. This Agreement shall be in effect upon execution by

the CITY and the LWBCRA, and shall remain in effect until December 31, 2026, unless extended

or terminated. The LWBCRA and the CITY may agree to extend the Agreement, through the

execution of a written amendment to this Agreement.

6. Public Records. The CITY and LWBCRA shall comply with the requirements of
Section 119.07, et.seq., Fla.Stat, related to the handling of public records.

7. Sovereign Immunity. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be

a waiver of, or affect the rights, privileges, and immunities of the CITY or LWBCRA as set forth

in Section 768.28, Fla.Stat.

8. No General Oblieation. Neither this Agreement, nor the obligations imposed upon
the CITY or the LWBCRA hereunder shall be or constitute an indebtedness or general obligation

of the CITY or LWBCRA within the meaning of any constitutional statutory or charter provisions

requiring the CITY or the LWBCRA, or other Governmental Authority to levy ad valorem taxes
nor a lien upon any properties or funds of the CITY or the LWBCRA or other Governmental

Authority. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed construed or applied to cause any

Governmental Authority, specifically including the CITY and the LWBCRA, to waive its right to
exercise its governmental power and authority or to consider any request causing the exercise of
its governmental powers in any manner other than that which is customary for the exercise of such

governmental powers.

(SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW)



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed

on the day and year first above written.

ATTEST:

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH

By:
Melissa Ann Coyne, MMC,

City Clerk

By:
Betty Resch, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND
LEGAL SUFFICIENCY:

APPROVED FOR FINANCIAL
SUFFICIENCY

By:

Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney

By: _

Yannick Ngendahayo, Financial Services Director

LAKE WORTH BEACH COMMUNITY
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

/ / --

Joan pTiva, Executive Director

is_j_ day of

/w^ ^/^
dari'a Blockson, Chair

:£-^-

Dated this _j_ day of ,2024



STAFF REPORT 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

AGENDA DATE: August 20, 2024 DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

TITLE: 

General Contractors Agreements with Louminel General Contractor, LLC, Mya Construservice, LLC and 
Sustainable Design and Construction Services, Inc. for miscellaneous maintenance repairs 

 
SUMMARY: 

The Contract authorizes the City to utilize the Mya Construction Services, LLC, Louminel General 
Contractor, & Sustainable Design for misc. maintenance repairs under $100,000 that are outside the 
capability of the city staff. 

 
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

The city is actively engaged in the repair and maintenance of the city facilities & properties, these repairs 
consist of, but are not limited to, interior office buildouts, HVAC work, electrical work, fencing, window 
and door work, carpentry, painting, plumbing, flooring, and roofing. The Public Works Department 
frequently has projects for repair work that are beyond the capabilities of the in-house labor force and 
need to be outsourced. On April 17, 2024, the City received seven (8) bids in response to Invitation for 
Bid (IFB) 24-106, Annual Contract General Contractor Related Services for Projects Under $100,000. In 
accordance with the bid document, three (3) contractors were selected for the award. Upon review of the 
bid submittals, it was determined that Louminel General Contractor LLC, Mya Construction Services & 
Sustainable Design were the lowest, most responsive, and responsible bidders. All three agreements 
are attached to this agenda item. The Agreements are for an initial three (3) year term with two (2) 
additional one (1) year extensions, for a total possible term of five (5) years.  These are unit price 
agreements and there is no financial commitment to the City unless Work Order is issued and approved 
in accordance to the City’s procurement policy. 

 
MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove construction contracts with Louminel General Contractor, LLC, Mya 
Construservice, LLC and Sustainable Design and Construction Services, Inc. for General Contractor 
Related Services  

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

Construction Agreements 
Bid Tabulations 





















































































































































Waypoint 

Contracting, Inc.

High Rock Builders, 

LLC

Sustainable Design 

and Construction 

Services, Inc.

Mya Construservice 

LLC

Cooper Construction 

& Development, LLC

Louminel General 

Contractor, LLC

Creative Contracting 

Group
Green Alliance, Inc.

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted

Incomplete - Provided only 

1 project Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

None None None None None None None None

None
None Submitted list None None Submitted list Submitted list None

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted

Incomplete - Did not 

provide any references Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Signed/Not Notarized

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted Submitted

Applied for Small  Business 

Preference - Vendor does 

not qualify per the City's 

Ordinance (small business 

certificationis from  Miami-

Dade County)

Small Business - Did not 

provide any documentation

Applied for Small  Business 

Preference - Vendor does 

not qualify per the City's 

Ordinance (small business 

certificationis from  Miami-

Dade County)

N/A

Veteran owned Small 

Business -Preference 

compliant 

Applied for Small  Business 

Preference - Vendor does 

not qualify per the City's 

Ordinance (small business 

certificationis from  Miami-

Dade School district)

Applied for Small and 

Local Business 

Preference - Vendor 

does not qualify per the 

City's Ordinance (small 

business certification) 

Business is not in LWB 

Applied for Small  

Business Preference - 

Vendor does not qualify 

per the City's Ordinance 

(small business 

certificationis from  

Miami-Dade County)

incomplete submittal - not 

compliant 

Scrutinized Companies Certification B12

Veteran Business Enterprise, Small Businees and Local Business 

Preference Form B13

Compliance :

Contractor Verification Form B7

List of References B8

Non-Collusion and Public Entity Crimes Affidavit B9

Drug Free Workplace Certification B10

Campaign Contribution Statement B11

Schedule of Subcontractors B6

City of Lake Worth Beach 

Compliance Checklist & Bid Tab

Substitution Sheet B5

Schedule of Unit Prices B4

Bid B3

Bidder's Minimum Qualifications B2

Bid Cover Sheet B1



Item # QTY UNIT
UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT

UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT

UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT

UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT

UNIT 

PRICE

 Price with 

5% 

preference

QTY UNIT
UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT

UNIT 

PRICE
QTY UNIT UNIT PRICE

LABOR RATES/MAN HOURS

1 Carpenter 1 HR $37.80 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $42.50 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $41.90 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $58.00

2 Painter 1 HR $27.50 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $31.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $39.36 $37.39 1 HR $32.80 1 HR $50.00 1 HR $56.00

3 Plumber 1 HR $67.50 1 HR $105.00 1 HR $42.50 1 HR $55.00 1 HR $61.75 $58.66 1 HR $43.65 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $64.00

4 Electrician 1 HR $67.50 1 HR $110.00 1 HR $51.00 1 HR $62.00 1 HR $67.39 $64.02 1 HR $52.86 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $67.00

5 Tile 1 HR $27.65 1 HR $55.00 1 HR $29.50 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $40.25 $38.24 1 HR $28.36 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $58.00

6 Masonry 1 HR $45.25 1 HR 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $39.25 $37.29 1 HR $30.35 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $58.00

7 Skilled Laborer 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $52.00 1 HR $31.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $31.85 1 HR $60.00 1 HR $50.00

8 Unskilled Laborer 1 HR $25.00 1 HR $48.00 1 HR $27.00 1 HR $21.00 1 HR $36.46 $34.64 1 HR $25.80 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $45.00

9 Driver 1 HR $36.50 1 HR $55.00 1 HR $38.00 1 HR $21.00 1 HR $43.63 $41.45 1 HR $37.90 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $25.00

10 Foreman 1 HR $63.11 1 HR $82.00 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $70.00 $66.50 1 HR $45.80 1 HR $70.00 1 HR $50.00

11 Project Manager 1 HR $78.50 1 HR $95.00 1 HR $49.75 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $90.00 $85.50 1 HR $50.75 1 HR $90.00 1 HR $50.00

12 Project Liaison 1 HR $63.25 1 HR 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $50.00 $47.50 1 HR $48.00 1 HR $70.00 1 HR $50.00

13 Vice President 1 HR $94.45 1 HR 1 HR $62.50 1 HR $68.00 1 HR $110.00 $104.50 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $1.00

LABOR CATEGORIES

14 General Demo Work 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $52.00 1 HR $34.00 1 HR $24.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $45.00

15 Concrete Demo Work 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $59.00 1 HR $36.00 1 HR $21.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $38.00 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $45.00

16 Framing & Sheathing 1 HR $37.50 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $40.00 1 HR $28.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $39.50 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $58.00

17 Finish Carpentry & Trim Work 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $84.00 1 HR $39.75 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $41.00 1 HR $150.00 1 HR $58.00

18 Drywall & Finishing 1 HR $32.50 1 HR $40.00 1 HR $37.75 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $36.40 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $58.00

18 Window & Door Removal/Installation 1 HR $35.00 1 HR 1 HR $37.50 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $200.00 1 HR $58.00

20 Site Work 1 HR $47.50 1 HR 1 HR $31.75 1 HR $37.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $150.00 1 HR $58.00

21 Forming & Pouring Concrete 1 HR $38.50 1 HR $58.00 1 HR $46.00 1 HR $42.00 1 HR $39.25 $37.29 1 HR $45.25 1 HR $150.00 1 HR $58.00

22 General Painting 1 HR $32.50 1 HR $40.00 1 HR $31.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $39.36 $37.39 1 HR $28.90 1 HR $85.00 1 HR $56.00

23 Pressure Washing 1 HR $28.75 1 HR $52.00 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $21.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $28.75 1 HR $85.00 1 HR $45.00

24 Fencing 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $37.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $35.25 1 HR $100.00 1 HR $58.00

25 Landscape & Irrigation Work 1 HR $28.50 1 HR 1 HR $33.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $37.56 $35.68 1 HR $31.55 1 HR $100.00 1 HR $50.00

26 Tile Installation 1 HR $29.65 1 HR 1 HR $47.00 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $40.25 $38.24 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $58.00

27 ADA Accessory Installation 1 HR 1 HR 1 HR $32.00 1 HR $55.00 1 HR $43.70 $41.52 1 HR $28.00 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $58.00

28 Permitting 1 HR $65.00 1 HR 1 HR $70.00 1 HR $55.00 1 HR $90.00 $85.50 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $75.00 1 HR $45.00

29 Project Site Supervisor 1 HR $72.50 1 HR 1 HR $61.00 1 HR $65.00 1 HR $90.00 $85.50 1 HR $60.00 1 HR $100.00 1 HR $50.00

EQUIPMENT & TOOLS

30 30' Boom Lift 1 HR $125.00 1 HR 1 HR $39.50 1 HR $25.00 1 HR $78.00 $74.10 1 HR $38.30 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $65.00

31 60' Boom Lift 1 HR $165.00 1 HR 1 HR $44.35 1 HR $35.00 1 HR $95.00 $90.25 1 HR $43.65 1 HR $150.00 1 HR $75.00

32 80' Boom Lift 1 HR $185.00 1 HR 1 HR $48.75 1 HR $45.00 1 HR $155.00 $147.25 1 HR $47.90 1 HR $175.00 1 HR $250.00

33 20 Ton Crane up to 75' lift 1 HR $225.00 1 HR 1 HR $49.10 1 HR $85.00 1 HR $533.00 $506.35 1 HR $49.30 1 HR $300.00 1 HR $500.00

34 20 Yard Dumpster 1 HR $585.00 1 HR 1 HR $39.45 1 HR $35.00 1 HR n/a n/a 1 HR $39.55 1 HR $200.00 1 HR $20.00

35 Port-A-Potty 1 HR $225.00 1 HR 1 HR $27.00 1 HR $18.00 1 HR $1.00 $0.95 1 HR $25.50 1 HR $250.00 1 HR $20.00

36 Concrete Pump - Flat 1 HR $185.00 1 HR 1 HR $43.50 1 HR $38.00 1 HR n/a n/a 1 HR $44.25 1 HR $200.00 1 HR $300.00

37 Concrete Pump - Boom 1 HR $225.00 1 HR 1 HR $48.30 1 HR $41.00 1 HR n/a n/a 1 HR $48.10 1 HR $300.00 1 HR $1,500.00

38 Bobcat 1 HR $85.00 1 HR $125.00 1 HR $32.50 1 HR $14.00 1 HR $55.00 $52.25 1 HR $31.86 1 HR $100.00 1 HR $500.00

39 Compaction Machine for Pads 1 HR $55.00 1 HR 1 HR $38.00 1 HR $38.00 1 HR $30.00 $28.50 1 HR $37.90 1 HR $50.00 1 HR $10.00

Preference application 

6 9 18 1 4 0 4

7 7 4 2 17 0 3

4 12 6 6 10 0 1

second First third

5% veteran preference applies to unit 

price

Cooper Construction & 

Development, LLC

Creative Contracting 

Group
Green Alliance, Inc.

City of Lake Worth Beach 

Bid Tabulation

IFB #24-106 - GENERAL CONTRACTOR RELATED SERVICES FOR PROJECTS UNDER $100,000.00

High Rock Builders, 

LLC

Sustainable Design 

and Construction 

Services, Inc.

Mya Construservice 

LLC

Louminel General 

Contractor, LLC
Unit Price Description

Waypoint Contracting, 

Inc.



STAFF REPORT 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

AGENDA DATE: August 20, 2024 DEPARTMENT: City Clerk 

TITLE: 

Ordinance No. 2024-12 - First Reading - amending the Oath of Candidate form 

 
SUMMARY: 

The Ordinance will amend the City’s Oath of Candidate form, required by individuals to qualify as 
candidates, to include language that closely resembles the State’s Division of Election’s Form 25 – 
Candidate Oath- Nonpartisan Office. 

 
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

For years the City has used its own Oath of Candidate form, which contains verbiage unique to the City 
such as candidates qualifying under the City’s Charter. For this reason, the City has not adopted the 
State’s Division of Election’s form but has chosen to amend its Oath from time to time. 

The purpose of this ordinance is to amend Section 2.15 of the Code of Ordinance to add a provision for 
the six month residency requirement from the City’s Charter and update the pronouns on the form. 

 
MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Ordinance 2024-12 on first reading and schedule the second reading and 
public hearing for September 3, 2024. 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis – N/A 
Ordinance 2024-12 
Current Oath form 



2024-12 1 
 2 

 3 
ORDINANCE 2024-12 - AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH 4 
BEACH, FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 2 “ADMINISTRATION,” ARTICLE II 5 
“ELECTIONS,” SECTION 2-15 “OATHS REQUIRED OF CANDIDATE,” TO 6 
CLARIFY THE REQUIREMENTS TO QUALIFY FOR ELECTION; AND 7 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, CODIFICATION, AN 8 
EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 9 
 10 

 11 
WHEREAS, the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida (the “City”) is a duly constituted 12 

municipality having such home rule power and authority conferred upon it by the Florida 13 
Constitution and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; and 14 

 15 
WHEREAS, the City Commission desires to clarify Section 2-15 of the City’s Code of 16 

Ordinances, which generally requires that candidates for elected office within the City sign an 17 
oath that they qualify for office to specifically include language regarding such qualification; and 18 

 19 
WHEREAS, the City Commission finds and declares that this Ordinance is appropriate 20 

and is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the City, its residents, and visitors. 21 
 22 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 23 

LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 24 
 25 
Section 1: The foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are incorporated into this Ordinance 26 

as true and correct findings of the City Commission.  27 
 28 
Section 2: Chapter 2 “Administration,” Article II “Elections,” section 2-15 “Oaths 29 

required of candidate,” is hereby amended as follows (deletions in strikethrough text and additions 30 
in underline text): 31 
 32 
Section 2-15. – Oaths required of candidate. 33 
 34 
At the time any person shall seek to qualify as a candidate for any elective office of the city 35 
he/she/they shall first take and subscribe the following oath: 36 
 37 

OATH OF CANDIDATE 38 
 39 
State of Florida 40 
County of Palm Beach 41 
 42 

Before me, an officer authorized to administer oaths, personally appeared 43 
 44 
___________________________________________________________ 45 
(PLEASE PRINT NAME AS YOU WISH IT TO APPEAR ON THE BALLOT) 46 
name may not be changed after the end of qualifying 47 

 48 
who, being sworn, says that he/she/they is a candidate for office of __________________; that 49 
he/she/they is a qualified elector of Palm Beach County, Florida; that he/she/they is qualified 50 
under the Charter of the City of Lake Worth Beach and the Constitution and laws of Florida to 51 
hold the office to which he/she/they desires to be nominated or elected as he/she/they has for 52 
a period of at least six (6) months immediately preceding the first day of qualifying for such 53 



Pg. 2, Ord. 2024-12 

 
office established a fixed habitation or primary abode at the address below which is in District 54 
___ within the City of Lake Worth Beach and he/she/they intends to reside at that address 55 
indefinitely; that he/she/they has not violated any of the laws of the State relating to elections 56 
or the registration of electors; that he/she/they has qualified for no other public office in the 57 
state, the term of which office or any part thereof runs concurrent to the office he/she/they seeks; 58 
that he/she/they has resigned from any office from which he/she/they is required to resign 59 
pursuant to section 99.012, Florida Statutes, and section 2-21, City of Lake Worth Beach Code 60 
of Ordinances. 61 
 62 
 63 

__________________ 64 
Signature of Candidate 65 
 66 

 67 
__________________________________________________________________________ 68 
Street Address        City        State        Zipcode 69 
 70 
 71 
Candidate's Florida Voter Registration Number (located on your voter information card) ____________ 72 
 73 
 74 
Please print name phonetically on the line below as you wish it to be pronounced on the audio 75 
ballot for persons with disabilities 76 
 77 
 78 
___________________________________________________________________________ 79 
 80 
 81 
The above Oath of Candidate is sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me by means of 82 
physical presence this _____ day of _______________, 20_____, at Palm Beach County, 83 
Florida. 84 
 85 
Personally Known:_______or 86 
Produced Identification:_______ 87 
Type of Identification Produced:_________________ 88 
 89 
 90 

__________________________________91 
Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida 92 

Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public 93 
 94 
 95 

Section 3:  Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion 96 
of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent 97 
jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision, and 98 
such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.  99 

 100 
Section 4:  Repeal of Laws in Conflict.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 101 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 102 
 103 
Section 5: Codification.  The sections of the ordinance may be made a part of the City 104 

Code of Laws and ordinances and may be re-numbered or re-lettered to accomplish such, and 105 
the word “ordinance” may be changed to “section”, “division”, or any other appropriate word. 106 



Pg.3, Ord. 2022-12 

 107 
Section 6: Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective 10 days after 108 

passage. 109 
 110 

The passage of this ordinance on first reading was moved by ______________________, 111 
seconded by ________________________, and upon being put to a vote, the vote was as 112 
follows: 113 

 114 
Mayor Betty Resch  115 
Vice Mayor Sarah Malega  116 
Commissioner Christopher McVoy  117 
Commissioner Mimi May  118 
Commissioner Reinaldo Diaz  119 
 120 
The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on first reading on the _______ 121 

day of ____________________, 2024. 122 
 123 

 124 
The passage of this ordinance on second reading was moved by _________________, 125 

seconded by ________________, and upon being put to a vote, the vote was as follows: 126 
 127 

Mayor Betty Resch  128 
Vice Mayor Sarah Malega  129 
Commissioner Christopher McVoy  130 
Commissioner Mimi May  131 
Commissioner Reinaldo Diaz  132 
 133 
 134 
The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on the _______ day of 135 

_____________________, 2024. 136 
 137 

 138 
 139 

LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY COMMISSION 140 
 141 
 142 
By: __________________________ 143 

Betty Resch, Mayor 144 
ATTEST: 145 
 146 
 147 
______________________________ 148 
Melissa Ann Coyne, MMC, City Clerk 149 



OATH OF CANDIDATE 

Before me, an officer authorized to administer oaths, personally appeared 

_______________________________________________________________ , 
  (PLEASE PRINT NAME AS YOU WISH IT TO APPEAR ON THE BALLOT) 

who, being sworn, says that he/she is a candidate for office of 
_____________________; that he/she/they is a qualified elector of Palm Beach 
County, Florida; that he/she is qualified under the Charter of the City of Lake Worth 
Beach, and the Constitution and laws of Florida to hold the office to which he/
she/they desires to be nominated or elected; that he/she has not violated any of the 
laws of the State relating to elections or the registration of electors; that he/she/they 
has qualified for no other public office in the state, the term of which office or any 
part thereof runs concurrent to the office he/she/they seeks; that he/she/they has 
resigned from any office from which he/she/they is required to resign pursuant to 
Section 99.012, Florida Statutes, and Section 2-21, City of Lake Worth Beach Code of 
Ordinances. 

__________________________ 
  Signature of Candidate 

______________________________________________________________________ 
Street Address                                          City                          State                Zip Code 

Candidate’s Florida Voter Registration Number (located on your voter information card)    __________________ 

Please print name phonetically on the line below as you wish it to be pronounced on the 
audio ballot for persons with disabilities 

______________________________________________________________________ 

The above Oath of Candidate is sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me this 
_____ day of _______________, 20_____, at Palm Beach County, Florida.  

Personally Known: ______  or 
Produced Identification: _______ 
Type of Identification Produced: 
_________________________ 

____________________________ 
      Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida 

      Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public 

(Ord. No. 2014-27) 


	Top
	A.	7/29 BWS2 minutes
	DRAFT 072924 BWS2 minutes

	B.	08/05 BWS3 minutes
	DRAFT 080524 BWS3 minutes

	C.	08/06 RM minutes
	DRAFT 080624 RM minutes

	A.	Proclamation - Women's Equity Day
	Women's Equality - day - August 26, 2024

	B.	Electric Utility Easement - Morguard Emerald Apartments
	Morguard Staff Report
	Easement
	Conditional Approval Letter

	A.	Ordinance No. 2024-08 - Second Reading - Fee-In-Lieu Parking
	Off-Street Parking Staff Report
	Ordinance 2024-08
	Staff Report PZB&HRPB

	A.	ILA with CRA for Madison Terrace Phase I
	Madison Terrace Phase One ILA Staff Report
	CRA - ILA for Madison Terrace I

	B.	General Contractors Agreements
	General Contractors Staff Report (2)
	Agreement - Louiminel General Contractors
	Agreement Mya Construservices
	Agreement - Sustainable Design
	Bid Tab

	C.	Ordinance No. 2024-12 - First Reading - amending the Oath of Candidate form
	Oath of Office Staff Report
	Ordinance 2024-12
	Oath of Candidate form

	Bottom

